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2 NAVAJO INDIAN RESERVATION.

DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR,
OFTFICE OF INDTAN AYFATIRS,
Washington, May 27, 188()

Str: Under date of December 19 last T called the attention of the
Department to the pressing need of some activn looking to the settle-
ment of the constantly recurring troubles between the Navajos and
white settlers in New Mexico, growing out of the joint occupation by
them of the country east and south of the Navajo Reservation—the
pubiic domain.

After a brief recital of the history of the Navajos, the origin, char-
acter, and extent of their reservation, and the causes which have led to,
the disturbances between them and the whites, I recommended that an
inspector of the Department be sent to New Mexico, instructed to make
a thorough investigation of the whole subject, with a view, it possible,
to devlsmn some plan for a satistactory solution of the difficulties.

It appearing that there was no inspector whose services could be
made available at that time, the Acting Secretary (Mr. Muldrow) sug-
gested that the desired investigation might be made by one of the spe-
cial agents ot this Burcau.

Accordingly I directed Special Agent William Parsons (Ifebruary 4,
1886) to proceed to the Navajo Agency and make a careful study of
the situation ; to inquire into the condition and needs of the Indians—
especially the uon-reservation Indians—and their relation to their white
neighbors, and, if possible, to devise some practicable plan to rellev
the disturbed (,ondltlon of affairs in that region.

He was instructed to visit the non-reservation Indians and counsel
with them, to confer with prominent citizens of the Territory, and to
advise prudence and forbearance everywhere. He was especially en-
joined to take ample time for a thorough, faithful, and painstaking in-
vestigation.

After a careful study of the situation Agent Parsons believes that
with an expenditure of 850,000 in sinking artesian wells, and in the
construction of .irrigating ditches, dams, and reservoirs, the present
reservation of the Navajos could be made capable of supporting the
entire Navajo tribe, with their immense flocks of sheep and goats, and
that the non reservation Indians could be gathered on the reservation
without the einployment of coercive measures.

To my mind the experiment is worth trying. The Navajo Reserva-
tion is for the most partan arid waste. It is so deseribedin all accounts
we have of it, and although it has an area greater than that of the State
of Maryland, it is incapable of snstaining any considerable population—
probably not two people to the square mile.

Unlike the table lands in other portions of New Mexico, which are
covered with an abundant growth of vich, nutritious native grasses,
notwithstanding the fact that the rainfall at times does not exceed ten
inches in a year, the reservation is for the most part a rocky barren
desert.

The Navajos number, mcludmo those who reside outside the limits of
the reservation, somewhere between 20,000 and 25,000 souls. They own,
according to the caleulations made by Special Agent Parsons, not less
than ],500,000 head of sheep and goats, and 80,000 head of horses.

Various estimates have been made of the number of Indians living
outside the reservation boundaries, and Mr. Parsons’s estimate, 7,500, is
as low as any.

No one believes that the whole tribe could live and subsist their
flocks and herds on the reservation under present conditions; but if a
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few artesian wells were sank, and some ditehes, dams, and reservoirs
constructed, it is believed that they could all find suitable accomnmo-
dation on the reservation.

The Llano Estacado (Staked Plains), which is an elevated region,
without water or wood, in the southeastern part of the Territory, has
been reclaimed to a considerable extent by the sinking of artesian wells,
The experiment there is said to have been eminently successful, and
no doubt good results would follow it a similar experiment were tried
on the Navajo Reservation.

The future well-being of the tribe requires that some steps should be
taken to settle the non-reservation Indians in permanent homes where
they will not be interfered with by the white settlers, who are fast oc-
cupying the country, and I think the material interests of the Tervitory
require it in no less degree.

It would be impracticable to settle them on homesteads under the
provisions of the homestead laws. There are too many of them for
that, and they are not sufficiently enlightened to comprehend onr land
system and methods of procedure. It is fair to presume that not one
in a hundred of them would ever acquire title under the homestead
laws. They would not, and it is doubtful it they could, comply with
the requirements of the law. It is not their habit to remain in one
place for any length of time; they roam about all over the western part
of the Territory, wherever they can find water and grass.

Unless the plan proposed by Special Agent Parsons be adopted, I
see no way to settle this vexed question, and I am decidedly of the
opinion that the experiment should be tried.

His recommendations are:

(1) That the sum of $50,000 be expended in sinking artesian wells, con-
structing irrigating ditches, dams, and reservoirs on the reservation,
with a view to storing a sufficient supply of water to meet the neces-
sities of the whole tribe.

(2) That when the wells, ditches, &e., are completed, notice be given
the Indians to remove to and settle on the reservation.

The other recommendations, which relate to a tract of land south of
the San Juan, were anticipated, in so far as the addition of said tract
to the rescrvation is concerned, by an executive order dated April 24,
1886.

As showing briefly the history of the Navajos, and the reasons for the
present deep concern which is felt by this office in regard to the non-
reservation Indians, I inclose herewith an extract from office report of
December 19, 1885, referred to in the beginning of this report.

L also inclose a copy of Special Agent Parsony’s report (dated April 27,
1886), to which special attention is respectfully invited.

I also inclose a draft of an item intended for insertion in one of the
appropriation biils, with the recommendation that, if the plan suggested
meets with your approval, the saine be transmitted to Congress at an
early day, for the action of that body.

The item provides for the appropriation of $50,000 to be used in the
work of sinking artesian wells and in constructing irrigating ditches,
dams, and reservoirs on the Navajo Indian Reservation in New Mexico
and Arizona, and that the Secretary of War shall detail & competent
officer of the Corps of Engineers of the Army to superintend such work,
under direction of the Secretary of the Interior.

Two copies of this report are herewith inclosed.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
A. B. UPSHAW,

The SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR. Acting Commissioner.
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ITEM.

For sinking artesian wells and constructing irrigating ditches, dams, and reservoirs on
the Navajo Indian Reservation, in New Mexico and Arizona, $50,000. And the Secretary
of War shall detail a competent officer from the Engineer Corps of the Army to plan
and superintend such work, under the direction of the Secretary of the Interior.

Extract from report of the Commissioner of Indian Affuirs to the Secretary of the Interior,
December 19, 1885.

The reservation established for these Indians in the northwestern part of said Terri-
tory by the treaty of 1868, and which has been extended by Executive order into the
Territories of Arizona and Utah, is but poorly adapted to their wants.

The following graphic description of the reservation is taken from the annual report
of Agent Bowman for 1884. He says:

*This reservation is about my ideal of a desert; and although very large, it might
have been much larger without covering any land of much value. It is merely a space
on the map of so many degrees and parallels. Three-fourths ot it is about as valuable
for stock grazing as that many acres of clear sky. As there are no running streams it
can only be irrigated with buckets. Nearly all the water is bad—alkali. The valleys
are composed of sand formed by wash and erosion; no soil worthy of the name.

‘“About three-fourths of the entire tract is covered by rockand barren mesas. Where
springs of water doexist the water has usually found a channel through the debris under
the surface and is lost there.’’

The Navajos are essentially a pastoral people. They own upwards of one million
sheep and goats, about an equal number of each. Although of a very inferior grade
they afford them their chief means of subsistence and a large share of their clothing.
They also own large bands of horses, the aggregate number of which cannot be less than
35,000 or 40,000.

This immense quantity of stock requires a large range of pasturage, and as the reser-
vation is so generally barren, nearly one-half of the tribe, or at the least calculation
8,000, live outside the reservation limits. This privilege they claim as a right guaran-
teed to them by the treaty of 1868 (Stat. 15, p. 667), which provides (Art. IX) as fol-
fows:

‘“In consideration of the advantages and benefits conferred by this treaty, and the
many pledges of friendship by the United States, the tribes who are parties to this agree-
ment hereby stipulate that they will relinquish all right to occupy any territory outside
their reservation, as herein defined, but retain the right to hunt on any unoccupied lands
contiguous to thelr reservation, so long as the lalge game may range thereon in such
large numbers as to justify the chase.” * *

Although by Article XIIT of said treaty they agreed to make the reservation their
permanent home, and that they would not as a tribe make any permanent settlement
elsewhere (reserving the right to hunt on the adjoining lands as aforesaid), about half
of the tribe have never been on the reservation to live, and, so far as I have been able to
find, no coercive measures have ever been employed to place them there. They are scat-
tered all over the country, principally east and south of the reservation, for a distance of
100 1miles or more. Indeed, some of them live at a distance of 200 miles from the res-
ervation.

Until quite recently they have been but little interfered with. The lands were for
the most part unoccupied, and until the Southern Pacific Railroad was built the coun-
try appears to have offered no particular attraction to settlers. With the advent of the
railroad, however, the situation changed. Settlers began to enter the country, and from
that time to the present complaints have poured in from all quarters, with appeals for
the removal of the Indians to their reservations.

The multitude of these complaints and the frequent cases of disagreement which of
late has arisen between the Indians and settlers, render it necessary that some timely
action be taken to prevent the disruption of the friendly relations which have existed
between the Indians and the whites for the past twenty years.

The Navajos are a powerful tribe, the largest in point of numbers attached to any
agency in the country, if we except the agency of the five civilized tribes in Indian Ter-
ritory. The census of 1885 gives them a total population of a little over 21,000 souls.

Prior to 1864, when they were subdued by the military, the Navajos were a scourge to
the country. They kept the whole valley of the Rio Grande in a state of terrorism, mur-
dering and pillaging, and carrying whole families into captivity. They either resisted
peaceful negotiations altogether, or made treaties (which they did not pretend to keep),
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as best suited their warlike propensities and designs. Their history shows that they
made no less than seven treaties with the Government prior to their subjugation, six of
which they broke before the Senate could take uction on the question of their ratification.

After their capture they were for a time held as prisoners ol war on a reservation in
the eastern part of the Territory, New Mexico.

Finally the treaty of 1868 was made, and they were removed to their present reserva-
tion. The latter treaty, it appears, they have faithfully kept. This is true, at least as
regards deportment. They have been extremely quiet and peaceable, devoting them-
selves industriously to sheep-raising and to agriculture to such extent as the limited re-
sources of the country would admit.

They have been thoroughly loyal, have occasioned but little if any trouble to the
Government, and have been no great burden to the country financially.

If they have failed in any respect it is in that they have not all gone upon their res-
ervation and made it their permanent home. The unsuitable character of their reserva-
tion perhaps affords some reasonable excuse for this, and besides many of the Navajos
who reside outside the reservation limits were not brought in by the military when
the tribe was placed on the Bosque Rodondo Reservation in the eastern part of the Ter-
ritory. Nevertheless they have alwwys been regarded as having been parties to and
bounden by the treaty.

Although the Navujos were reduced to pauperism by the disastrous wars which pre-
ceded the treaty of 1868, they have more than regained their former prosperity as the
result of their own industry. They are far more intelligent than any of the neighbor-
ing tribes, and with a fair chance there is no reason why they should not in time become
useful citizens.

The non-reservation Indians are those with whom we are now most concerned. As
has been stated, they number about eight thousand.

In his Jast annual report Agent Bowman, speaking of these people, says:

‘‘These Indiaans have always exercised the right which they believe was given them
by the tern:s of their treaty—that is, to go and live wherever they choose. I believe
that one-half of this tribe at least habitually live outside of their reservation lines, some
as far as 200 miles outside, and they are constantly coming and going. While this gives
them the advantage of competition in selling their wool, it has a bad effect upon them
in many ways; gives them opportunity for indulging in many vices, especially gambling
and procuring whisky. The class of people with whom they come in contact outside,
especially on the eastern side of the reservation, are, as a rule, not very moral, many of
the Mexicans living there making aliving by gambling with the Navajos and by fur-
nishing them whisky.

““The non-confinement of these Indians to their reservation will soon be the important
issue of this section, and one with which your office must deal. The country around
here is fast being settled up with whites—earnest nien, most of whom do not believe that
an Indian has any business off his reservation; men who have no great love for them any-
way, and who will be inclined to make them stand asideif they get in their way. Itis
impossible for these Indians to understand our land laws or the system of public surveys,
and harder stil! for them to comply with the requirements of the homestead laws. Itis
one of their unaccountable customs to live at great distances from water, and the white
«{disputant is seldom willing to concede that the occupaney of a brush shelter a mile or so
from a desirable spring, even if the Indian occupant drives his sheep there daily to water,
gives him the exclusive right to it. The present generation of Navajos, in my opinion,
will not derive mucl benefit from the beneficent act of Congress dated July 4, 1884, and
passed for their benefit. They are too ignorant to comprehend the requirements. Gen-
erations of nomadic ancestors have given them natures too unstable to ever erect many
homes that will be substantial enough to withstand the covetous attacks of their white
competitors for ehoice tracts of the public domain. Especially wiil this be the case when
they attempt to make settlements at great distances from the body of the tribe, where
they will fecl the sense of isolation natural to all who find themselves among a strange
people, with strange language and customs, and with different interests. A desire to get
back among their own people will soon overcome all others.

‘A year ago I did not believe that all of this tribe could subsist within the lines of
this reservation: now I believe they could. It is true that it isvery dry and barren, but
in this respect it does not differ from the adjoining country. I have ridden for days over
this reservation without seeing an Indian. Should it become necessary for them to live
wholly within the reservation, they would have toimprove and store the water wherever
it is practicable to do so, and to reduce the number and improve the quality of their
stock.”’

I conceive it to be a somewhat difficult question to decide what is best to be done with
these people.



6 NAVAJO INDIAN RESERVATION.

Here are eight thousand Indians living on the public domain for the most part with-
out any fixed habitation and with no title to the lands over which they roam and feed
their abundant stock. They have occupied the country for many years and believe they
have rights in the soil.

The whites are fast settlingaround them and in their midst, disputing their occupancy
of the country inch by inch. The relations between them are becoming more and more
strained, and remedial action is imperatively demanded. Whether the Indians could be
induced to go upon their reservation is a question. Indeed it is doubttul if they could
subsist their immense flocks on the barren wastes of the reserve. If the number were
reduced and the grade improved no doubt the reservation would afford abundant past-
urage for all the animals they would require.

To do this they would require some assistance, and the change would necessarily be
gradual and require considerable time. Perhaps it would be the best thing in the end,
however, if it could be brought about.

It would be a difficult matter where there are so many to give them homesteads under
the recent act of Congress providing for Indian homesteads, and their agent says they
are not sufficiently advanced in point of intelligence to comprehend or comply with the
requirements of the law.

The estimated area of the Navajo Reservation is 8,159,360 acres, or 12,749 square
miles, larger than the State of Maryland.

I think it is very doubtful if the entire reservation has ever been explored by any
officer of the department, and it is not unlikely that its facilities are greater than has
heretofore been supposed.

SanTA Fi, N. MEx., dpril 27, 1886.
Hon. Jou~N D. C. ATKINS,
Commvissioner of Indian Affairs, Washington, D. C. :

Sir: In obedience to your telegraphic orders of February 3, 1886, I left Pottawato-
mie and Great Nemaha Agency and reached Navajo Agency, Fort Defiance, Arizona,
February 17, where I found a copy of your office letter to the Secretary of the Inte-
rior, dated December 18, 1885, and your letter of instructions of February 4, 1886
(L., 31,061, 1885), awaiting me. Subsequently your supplementary letter of instruc-
tions of February 17, 1836 (L., 4,716, 1886), regarding the complaints made by settlers
in the San Juan River Valley reached me, and in respect to these several letters of in-
struction I have the honor to report as follows:

The question discussed in your office letter to the Secretary of the Interior of De-
cember 18, 1885, viz, the feasibility of placing all the Navajo Indians upon their
reservation, and the adequacy of the reservation, as at present constituted, to main-
tain these Indians, is of considerable magnitude and surrounded with wany difficul-
ties. You directed me to ‘“‘not exercise undue haste, but to study the situation
thoroughly and make full report of my proceedings, with such recommendations as
my examination of the question and my best judgment might justity.” I had been
on the reservation but a few days when I clearly perceived the wisdom of this direc-
tion and the necessity of making haste slowly. The interests involved affected the
peace and prosperity not ouly of many thousands of Indians, but also of the white in-
habitants of the three Territories of New Mexico, Arizona, and Utali, and the State
of Colorado, while the facts upon which a recommmendation could be based were not
clearly known. It became necessary for me, therefore, to malke original investiga-
tion, so far as was in my power, into the resources and climatic condition of the
Navajo Rescrvation, the number of the members of the tribe, their habits and dis-

osition, the extent and character of their worldly possessions, the inclination of the
Navajoes towards peace or war in case they should be confined upon the reservation,
whether their prosperity would be inereased by reducing the number of their flocks
and herds and improving the quality of the breed thereof, and whether the confine-
ment of the whole tribe upon the reservation would make necessary an enlargement
of its boundaries.

A glance at the map of the Navajo Reservation and a very slight knowledge of the
character of the Navajo Indians will show the extreme difficulty of naking these in-
vestigations. The reservation is practically an unknown country, and so far aslhave
been uble to learn it has never been thoroughly explored, either by military expe-
ditions, scientitic investigations, mining prospectors, or by ofticers of the Interior
Department. Several bodies of United States troops have marched across it, or made
incursions into it, for military purposes chiefly, and the records of the officers in
charge of these expeditions throw little light upon the agricultural and grazing ae-
sources of the reservation. Several geological parties have penetrated into some of its
more remarkable cafions aud have given us some interesting facts with regard to the
cliff dwellers and ruined pueblos, and two or three agents in charge of the reservation
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have made trips across some portions of it, the most active and inquisitive of these
last Leing Maj. John H. Bowman, the present agent’s immediate predecessor; bnt
the sum of all the combined information from these several sources I found unsatis-
factory, and much of it unreliable. Such mining prospectors as have venwnred into
the depths of the reservation in scarch of precions metals have gencrally been killed
DLy the Navajoes, who are extremely jealous of this class of adventnrers,

The reservation at its greatest length from cast to west is about 170 miles long and
from north to south it extends at its greatest breath upwards of 100 miles, containing
12,749 square miles, or about 3,159,360 acres. Being intersected by several lofty
monntain ranges, the Chusca, Tunicha, and Calabasa mountains, cut by a vast num-
ber of deep cations and steep banked arroyos, and largely made up of precipice-flanked
mesas. or table-lands, exploration is not only difficult, but dangerous. It is unfortu-
nate that my orders called me to this work at the most inclement season of the year—
the mounths of February, March, and early part ot April—the mountain passes being
blocked with snow, the level land deep with mud, and grass being so scarce that the
horses I rode were constantly giving ont from exhanstion and Jack of food. 1n spite
of these difticalties I managed, however, to explore a large part of the reservation
and to gain sufficient information regarding its agricultural and grazing resources
npon which to form a tolerably just opinion as to its capabilities in thesc respects.
The accompanying map, marked Exhibit A, compiled at my suggestion, throngh the
courtesy of General Bradley, commanding the District of New Mexico, gives a very
fairidea of the shape, extent, and boundaries of the reservation, the mountain ranges,
and prineipal caTions. The lines in black ink indicate as nearly as possible the routes
traveled by myself in the course of my explorations. It was impossible to penatrate,
with the means at my command and at that season of the year, into the northern
ceutral and northwestern portions of the reservation. The extreme northern central
point reached by me was the head of what is called Chin See Valley, about 70 miles
DLy the trail from Yort Defiance. Here our horses gave out on acconnt of the deep
snow and mud, and I found that no other horses suitable for so severe a ride could be
procured of the Indians.

I held a conucil with a large nnmber of the Navajoes, however, at this point, made
careful inquiry of them as to the character of the country nortlh and west, and was
told that while much of it was mountainous and worthless, there was a good deal of
it well watered and timbered, and that if a few small dams and ditcles could be
built a considerable population might be supported. I saw a large amount of fine
pine timber in this section, and we crossed the heads of several lmportant water-
courses, amoug others the Rio de Chelley and the Rio To-ha, along which the Indians
maintained some small farms. If the water of these streams, which results from
nielting snow on the mountains, could be stored in dams, many square miles of rich
alluvial land conld be made highly productive. Asa consequence of my exploration
into this and other little known portions of the reservatiou, and of the statements of
intelligent and industrious Navajoes, I am thoronghly convineed that there is an abun-
dance of water on the rescrvation to snpport all the Navajoes, as well those who now
reside off’ the reservation as those now upon it. R :

But before the entire Navajo population can be safely and comfortably maintained
upon the reservation it will be necessary for the Government to expeud a considera-
Dble amount of money in construceting reservorrs, dams and ditches, and sinking wells.
In considering the (uestion as to how much mgney shonld be thus expended, 1t must
be borne in mind that I saw this country when the streams were nnusually fall from the
extraordinary amounnt of snowfall during the spring, and that while the average rain-
fall and snow, reduced to water, for the last 15 years in Northern New Mexico lias been
14% inchies, there weve 2 years within this period when the raintall and melted snow
aggregated but 64 and 7 inches. Were the non-reservation Navajoes to be brought
back upon the reservation at a scason when the rainfall and melted snow amounted
to but 7 inches, and before a sufticient number of reservoirs and dams had been built,
they would lose a great portion of their flocks and herds, their farms would yield no
produce, great suffering would ensue, and the Government would be compelled to
turnish the Indians with food until another year, or else experience an almost certain
Indian war. In order to prevent any such catastrophe I am of the opinion that at
least $50,000 should be expeunded in dams, reservoirs, ditehes, and wells on this reser-
vatiou before the hazardons experiment of returning the non-reservation Navajoes
upon the reservation be attempted.

The Navajoes have an abundance of land, such as it is. What they need is more
water. Without a proper storage of water the bulk of the reservation during the
greater part of the year is simply a desert traversed by dry and rocky mountains.
The climate is very dry, the soil generally very sandy and sterile, but with a wise
gystem of dans, wells, and reservoirs the reservation can casily maintain not ounly
the flocks and herds of all the Navajoes, both those now off as well as those on the
reservation, as well as their increase for many years to come.
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In regard to the population of the Navajo tribe estimates vary widely. The cen-
sus of 1885 gives the tribe a populatiou of about 21,000 souls. This nnmber includes
reservation as well as non-reservation Indians. It is exceedingly difficult to deter-
mine the members of this tribe with accuracy. No real census lhas over been taken
of the tribe, and from the very nature of things a true census is impossible. Of the
21,000 supposml members of ile tribe, good judges estimate that about 8,000 reside
outsnde the limits of the reservation, leaving about 13,000 as the number resulmtr on
the reservation. From my recent two months’ residence on the reservation, my ex-
plorations, inqniries, and study, I believe that I am qualified to torm a rnasonably
accurate judgment as to the members of the tribe. Trom March 1 to March 4 last I
was engaged in journeying froom the southeast corner of the reservation to the San
Juan River, on the northeast corner, a distaunce, as I traveled, of about 130 miles from
Fort Wingate, and abont 100 miles ou the reservation. During the first 3 days of this
journey I did not see more than 20 Navajoes,the conntry traversed,however,being a des-
ert, without wood or water. Onthethird day wecame toaspring guarded by an Indian,
who demanded a quarter of a dollar for each head of cattle and men for the privilege
of a drink of water. As the water was almost solid mud, I declined his offer and we
departed without drinking. ~ I refer to this circumstance to show the scarcity of water
and the consequent scarcity of animal life. Marclh 4 1 came upon a band of about
50 Navajoes, men, women, and children, who had gathered a few miles south of the San
Juan Riverto tender me, as the representative of the Indian Office, the freedom of the
country.

That freedom cousisted in permitting me to clamber about 200 feet up the side of
a nearly perpeudicular frock and there to enjoy the delight of a drink of pure water,
which, however, was evidently nothing more than rain Water, or melted snow, which
had gathered in a little basin in the rocks. At the councils held by me at the San
Juan River not more than 50 Indians, hardly that number, were present. In my trip
from San Juau River across Tuunicha Pass, southwesterly across the reservation to
Fort Defiance, a distance of abont 140 miles, I saw about 40 Indians. On March 10,
when the annuity goods werce issned, there were about 4,000 Indians present. The
weather was very rongh, a terrible snow storm raging the entire day, aud this prob-
ably deterred many from being present. Many others who lived 75 to 100 miles away
did not think it worth while to attend the issue on the chance of what they might re-
ceive, and the almost certainty that if they received anything of value they would be
unable to transport it to their distant homes on the back of a diminutive pouny, thongh
I did see one determined Navajo carrying off a large plow on horseback, and another
a wheelbarrow, though I regret to say that in the latter case the experiment proved
unsuccessful, the fl'wmcnts of the wheelbarrow being scattered by the refractory
horse all over the north side of the plaza.

As the Navajoes are principally engaged in raising sheep, goats, and horses, which
reqnire constant herding, the girls watching the sheep and goats and the boys earing
for the bands ot horses, it follows that on March 10, the issue day, when 4,000 Navajoes
were at Fort Deliance, nearly all the boys and girls of an age snitable for that work
must have remained at home in the absence of their pavents. At a low estimate those
left at home on thitt day would constitute hialf of the nnmber of each family., Besides
these, the women with very young babies, the old, the decrepit, and sick also remained
at home on that day. But on account of the lack of roads, the numerous mountains
existing, the depth of the snow in the mountain passes, the lack of grass ftor their
ponies, and the inclemency of the weather, it is safe to say that very nw Indians liv-
ing 50 miles north, northeast, and northwest of Fort Defiance were able to attend the
issue March 10. In many cases where a Navajo came from a long distance, however,
he acted as the representative of several other familes besides his, and where he was
known to be rcliable received goods to be delivered to others. Taking into consid-
eration the foregoing facts, what 1 saw in my various expeditions and the opinion of
others well acquainted with them, I an1 of the opinion that the 4,000 Navajoes, men,
wonien, and children, present at Fort Defiance, March 10, 1886, Feu,lly represeited about
four times that number, or 16,000 persons.  As a number of these 4,000 were non-res-
ervation Indiauns, for whom due allowance should be made, I consider it reasonable
to estimate the actual number of Navajos residing on the reservation at 15,000 souls.
From my own observation and the opinion of those Lest informed, I am inclined to be-
lieve Tlmt half as many more, or 7,50, reside outside the reservation limits. This
would give the entire Nav: ajo tribe a population of about 22,000.

Now 4s to the habits and disposition of the Navajos. The Navajos, who, according
to the best aunthorities, came from Alaska, and who speak the same langnage as the
Apaches, and are closely related to the latter, have, ever since the whites knew any-
thing about them, been a brave and warlike people. The numerons ruined Pueblos,
the deserted cliff dwellings on and near the reservation, and the residence of the Mo-
quis, Zuiiis, and other Pueblo Indians upon the tops of lofty and practically inacces-
sible mesas, or table-lands, attest the military powers of the Navajos. The early
Spaniards attempted in vain to subdue or pacify them. According to Spanish au-
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thorities, the Navajos, about 1629, nearly exterminated the inhabitants of the Pueblo
village of Jemez; in 1679 they compelled the Znii to abandon the Pueblo of ‘ Ha-
in-cu”’ forever, and dnring the period of 1630-162 they drove the Spaniards out of
New Mcxico, and compelled the Zufii and other Pueblo Indians to abandon their vil-
lages on thie plaing and take refuge on the mesas. They even made raids into old
Mexico, entered towns and cities, and carried off many captives and terrorized the-
whole conntry south for hundreds of miles. Nor have they fallen below their repn-
tation for war in more modern times. During the recent civil war they were pro-
voked into hossility and raided the whole valley of the Rio Grande, doing finmeuse
damage and causing great loss of life, and it required a large force and the most anda-
cious courage on the part of the United States troops to penetrate their country and
finally subdne them. This conflict was carried on with varying success from 1861 to
1864, when thie Navajos, or the great majority of them, snbmitted and were removed
to the reservation near Fort Snmuer, in the Southeastern part of New Mexico, where
they remained nntil 1868, when they entered into a treaty with the Government, un-
der which they were permitted to return to their country, the present reservation,
upon condition that they shonld remain at peace. Yor eightcen years these Indians have
kept this treaty. They have been peaceful, but they still are a warlike people and
canuot be wronged or oppressed with impunity. Though they possess few fire-arms
and have maintained a peace for eighteen years, they still wear upon the left wrist the
leather band which protects the wrist from being cut by the blow of the bow-string, and
their warbows and iron and steel pointed arrows constitute a rather formidable weapon
in the hands of daring and desperate men.

While the Navajos are still a warlike people they have devoted themselves since
1868 to the cultivation of the soil, the raising of fruit in the warm and fertile caiions,
and most of all to the rearing of sheep, goats, and borses. As the raising of stock is
their chief occnpation the Navajos are nomads both by nature and habit. To obtain
grass for their flocks and herds, they are forced under the present condition of the
reservation to range over i large extent of country. As they wauder so far and so
frequently in scarch of grass, they do not think it worth while to build substantial
houses, and they use comparatively few tents, or tepees. Instead of a house they
build a hogan, which is for winter nse—a rough circular stone wall 4 or 5 feet high,
covered with a dirt roof, large enough for a man to stand evect in the middle of the
floor, and capable of containing the family and the few skins and pots necessary for
beds and cooking. In smnmer many of them use brush shelters and do not go to the
bother of even construeting a hogan, With sach habitations as these it is easy to see
that the Navajos have no indncement to abide in a fixed place. Recent ettorts on the
part of Agent Bowman and other representatives of the Indian Office have induced
many of the Navajos to build snbstantial stone lionses and to make permancnt homes
near some spring or running brook. But as springs and ruunuing brooks ave gearce it
will be necessary. in order to bind any large proportion ot these nomads to a fixed
place of habitation, for the Government to supply natnre’s deficiencies in this respect
by the construction ot dams, ditehes, reservoirs, and wells in suitable locations.  One
of the unfortnnate superstitiors of the Navajos is that when a person dies the house
or hogan in which the death occurred must be burned down, or abandoned. To re-
side in snch a house is unlucky, or ¢ bad medicine,” and is certain to produce further
deaths aud misforrunes—so the Navajos think. To escape this superstition some of
the more liberal minded and unorthodox Navajos, when they suspect a member of
their family ot an intentiou of dying, remove the dying one out of the house or hogan
just prior to dissolution. Tlus saves the trouble of building a new hogan, but is not
productive of comfort to the sick person or condneive to his recovery in case his
disease has been diaguosed erroncously. As the Navajos are a progressive people
there is reason to believe that when they are persuaded to build better liouses they
will abandon this superstition. It is ouly a short time ago that they instituted a
radical reform in the medical profession as practiced in the tribe. Several deaths
having occurred in spite of all the conjurations of the doctors, a pnblic meeting was
called ; the doctors, placed under arrest, were threatened with death untess they ad-
mitted that they were quacks. Ina moment of weakness they confessed that they
were frauds and could not cure disease, and therefore thenr angry accusers immedi-
ately killed them becanse by their own contession they were quacks.  Since then the
practice of medicine has been less popular than formerly among the Navajos; there
are fewer practitioners, but the death rate aniong the tribe has materially lessened.

The number of sheep, goats, and lorses owned by the Navajos israther a matter of
conjecture than of knowledge. Joln H. Bowman, the late agent, who was best qual-
ified of any man I have met to form a fair judgment on this subject, placed the num-
ber of sheep at 750,000, of goats at 750,000, and of horses at not less than 75,000 or
80,000. I am of opinion that this is as good a guess as anybordy can make. In my
excuisions on and off the reservation I saw many flocks of sheep and goats, con-
taining from 500 to 3,000 in number, and many bands of horses containing from 50
to 300. In my judgment Mr. Bownian’s estimate of the sheep and goats is under
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rather than above the mark, while I think that there are nearer 80,000 than 75,000
horses. All of these animals are of an inferior grade, bnt 1 do not believe that the
Navajos can be induced to reduee the number of their animals with the hope of in-
creasing their value by improving the breed. In every council I held with them I
discussed the question of improving the breed and reducing the number of the ani-
mals, and in every instance I was met by the argnment that the kind of animals they
had were sunited to the country and the climate, the Navajos understood how to man-
age them, and they answered their purposes. Ganada Muncho, whose name means
“the man of many lierds,” the licad chiet, declared positively that his people cared
more for munbers than for the quality of the stock, and when Largued with him that
one large, strong, fine horse was worth in market as much as four small, weak, un-
derbred pounies. lie said that the large horses conld not go as far in a day as his small,
hardy ponies—which was trne—required more care to keep then in condition, and were
unsuited for a country where there were 1o roads and where horse-back riding was
thie only means of locomotion. He also claimed, as did others, that the finer breeds
of sheep and goats could uot survive the severe winters and droughts of summer,
Whethier these arguments are true or false, the fact remains that the Navajos are op-
posed to cutting down the nnmbers of their shieep, goats, aud horses, and it will re-
quire many years and a great deal of argument to make them change their minds on
this subject 3 nevertheless, I think it the part of wisdom for the Indian Office to sup-
ply the Navajos, throngh their agent, with a considerable number of high-grade and
improved species of sheep, goats, and horses with the view of bettering the quality
of the live stock ownéd by them, I think 1t out ot the gnestion to induce them to
reduce the number of their stock as an economical measure. The barbarous Navajos
prefer to count heads rather than to estimate the fineness of wool.  They are indus-
trious beyond almost all other Indians, but they are as wild and savage as any, and
have not reached that point when they can value a thoronghbred sheep, goat, or
horse at a fabulous sum. Two dollars’ worth of coral beads are worth more in their
eyes than $20 in gold, and a thousand seraggy sheep are of more value than nine hun-
dred and ninety-nine high-grade and tender merinos. It is a mistake to assume that
because the Navajos are industrious and self-supporting they ave partially civil-
ized and free from Indian and barbarous habits of thonght. No tribe of Indians is
more thoroughly superstitious, barbarous, and uncivilized than the Navajos. Indeed
their very independence and industry make them less susceptible than other tribes
to civilizing influences. Other tribes, which rcceive supplies of food and clothing,
can be indueed to cut their hair and wear the garb of white men, but overy Navajo
wears long hair, fastens it back with a red “ banda,” and clings o his blanket and
Indian dress. Noue hut the scouts and school boys will consent to wear anything but
the Indian dress.

In the various conncils held by me with the Navajos, I put the question bluntly to
them whether, in case the whole tribe was confined upon the reservation, they would
submit and remain at peace, and I found that while all the chiefs insisted that they
could not live with all their people upon the reservation as it now exists, yet they
admitted that there wounld be no opposition of a violent character to the execution
of such an order. They are a warlike people, but have suttered so mueh from war and
have such a wholesome respect for the power of the Government that they will sub-
mit to anything that can be endured rather than resort to hostilities.

I have already discnssed the question as to whether the confinement of the whole
tribe within certain limits wonld make necessary the enlrrgement of the boundaries
of the reservation, and have expressed the opinion that the Navajos have already an
abundance of land—land sutficient for the whole tribe—but that what they need is
more water. And this brings up the matter of the disputes between white settlers
and Navajos in the San Juan Valley. So far as the Navajos are concerned, outside of
a few individuals who have houses on the disputed land and have cultivated farms
there, the issue relates to water rather than land.  The question with the Navajos is
‘e shall they have access, with their flocks and herds, to the San Juan River, or shall
they be deprived of approach to the only important and thorouglly relinble water-
course on their reservation 2”2 Io is true that several Navajos have houses and culti-
vated farms upon the south side of the S8an Juan River, just outside the limits of the
reservation. It is also true that several white men bave filed claims for these lands
in the proper land oftice, and that there is danger of personal collisions between
whites and Navajos attempting to farm the same picee of’ land at the same time. It
is hardly probable that these personal collisious will result in an Indian war, though
such a resunlt is possible; but the question underlying the San Juan difliculties—the
question that interests the tribe-—is a question of water. The San Jnan River bounds
the reservation from its junction with the Colorado River on the northwest to the ex-
treme eastern cdge of the reservation, with the exception of the fractional townships
14, 15, and 16, No. 29 north, range west, bordering the San Jnan River on the south-
a strip of land about 15 miles long from east to west, and abont 5 miles deep, consist,
ing alimost entirely of worthless table-land. This strip, however, contains about
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2,000 acres of good bottom land, all of which has been occupied by the Navajos for
farming purposes, and all of which has been filed upon by white settlers. With the
exception of this small tract of bottom land, over which the approach to the river is
easy, the mountains and table-lands crowd so closely upon the San Juan River its
entire length as to make it almost impossible for the Navajos to reach it with their
flocks and Lerds at any other place. Asthe reservation south of the San Juan at this
place is practically a desert for many iles, the Navajos prize greatly this approach
to the San Juan River. The riveris thie natural boundary. It is decp and rapid and
for alarge part of the year cannot be crossed. The strip of Jaud in question was added
to the reservation by executive order of July 6, 1880, at and subsequent to which time
the Navajos took possession of it, built some houses, dams, and ditches, and farmed
the Lottom land. By exceutive order of May 17, 1884, this strip was taken from the
reservation and thrown open to settlement. This order was a grave mistake., Before
its publication, the Navajos, nnder the instructions of their agents, had made im-
provements, being told that sueh improvements would give them a sure title to the
land. Now they were told that their improvements were not sufficient to hold the
land. ‘This contradictory condition of affairs they could not understand, and they
felt, and now feel, that the Indian occupants of this bottom land are in the right;
and in all equity they are. The white claimants, however, have the legal right to
this land and will gain possession under due process of Jaw, unless this ovder of May
17,1884, is revoked. In my deliberate judgment this order should be revoked without
delay, and the strip ofland in dispute rejoined to the reservation. Unless thisis done
there will be counstant irritation between the two races at this point. 'The Navajos
must get to the water in the dry season with their flocks and herds. When they at-
tempt to doso they will find the farms of white settlers and fences in their way. The
farms will be trampled upon by the Indian flocks and herds, the fences will be broken
down, and collisions will surely ensue. To preserve the peace in the futuve it is the
part of wisdom now to remove all cause for disturbance. 7This can be done by restor-
ing this strip of land to the reservation. Nor am I alone in this opinion. Ex-Agent
John H. Bowman, who was well conversant with the situation, and the present agent,
8. S. Patterson, an intelligent and careful observer, have both joined with me in rec-
ommending such action, and I transinit herewith a letter, marked Exhibit B, of Gen-
eral Luther P. Bradley, U. 8. A., commanding the distrvict, who has been among the
Indians twenty years, and for six years in this district, in which he emphatically
agrees with me. Nor are the difficnlties in the way of such action serions. I found
from personal examination that there were only about half a dozen bona fide white
residents of this strip, thongh about thirty claims have been filed by white specula-
tors. Irom examination of the records of the land oifice at Santa I°¢, N. Mex,, I find
that thirty whites have tiled claims upon this land, only one of whom has * proved
up.” 1 transmit lerewith a Land Office draft, marked Exhibit C,* of this disputed
land and also an abstract of claims filed to this date, marked Exhibit D.*  Fromn my
knowledge of the land and the lack of improvements by white men upon it, I believe
that the sum of $10,000 would be a very liberal estimate for all ** damages” which
might result to white claimants from the restoration ot this land to the Navajo reser-
vation. This is a very insignificant s when compared with the expense of main-
taining troops to preserve the peace in the San Juan Valley, the unceasing irritation
in the future, and the possibility of a collision which might result in a war disastrous
to the whites and ruinous to the Indians. In my opinion the Indiar Oftice should
take immediate steps to restore this land to the reservation. Whether your office has
the power to dispose of the inatter of ¢ damages” to white claimants, I am not pre-
pared to say, but if it has not it should secure the necessary legislation immediately,
revoke the order of May 17, 1884, and have a commission to assess the damages.  Such
action—and this alone—will permanently pacify the troubles in the San Juan Valley.

As regards the question whether the confinement of the whole tribe upon the reser-
vation will necessitate an enlargement of its boundaries, I Tiave partially discussed
that subject nunder the gquestion of the reservation’s resources, but will add thismuch:
The chisfs and head men of the Navajos are very anxious that the reservation should
be enlarged, especially on the sonth and west., This will appear more fully in the
proceedings of conneils held with me, and marked Exhibit E, herewith transmitted,
but I see no necessity for such eulargement, provided the Governmnent uses a little
wise economy and expends a sufficient sum to store the water npon and within the
present limits of the reservation. By giving then the strip of land on the San Juan
River they will feel that they have gained an important point, and, inmy judginent,
will be content.

Having cbme to the conclusion that all the Navajos should be brought upon their
reservation, and that with improvement of the water-storage system and the restor-
ing of the strip on the San Juan River to the reservation, its limits will be aniple for
the support of the whole tribe, the question naturally arises as to when the non-
reservation Indians should be brought back? This cannot well be done carlier than

* TI;(;se ci\'llili)iitsinutifx;';i;xhe(f.
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next year. Dams, reservoirs, ditches, and wells should be made dnring the present
year, or if no funds are available for snch purpose this year, then such improvements
should be made next year, and when sufficiently ncar completion ample notice should
be given the non-reservation Indians that they must, excepting those who have secured
a legal title to land outside the reservation, return \Within the reservation limits on or
before a certain date. The date should be determined upon only after consultation
with the agent of the Navajos and the general commanding the district. With the
consertion of the San Juan boundary to the Navajos and the improvement of their
water snpply I am confident that all those living off the reservation as nomads would
retnrn without the necessity of nsing force.

It is of great importance that this action should not be postponed. The San Juan
country is not the only place where danger threatens. Difficultics of a serions char-
acter may and are liable to arise along the borders of the reservation and far remote
from it at any moment. The white men crowding into the conntry surrounding the
reservation are cattle-raisers. The Navajos are mainly engaged in sheep and goat
raising. The interests of cattle and sheep raisers, whether white or Indian, are hos-
tile. Cattle cannot range where sheep are in the habit of grazing, and cattle men
will drive oft the sheep Terders by force. Only a year ago a cowboy killed a Navajo
sheep-herder on the southwest border of the reservation for no other offense than that
the latter presumed to water his sheep on the cattle range. A bloody reprisal for
this murder was only prevented by the skill and daring of one man, John . Bow-
man, the late agent, who at the risk of his life persuaded the infuriated Navajos to
forego snmmary vengeance aud let the law talke its conrse—the result being that the
murderer went scot-free, as is usual in such cases. The appropriation by whites of
springs and grass long used by the Navajos, though ontside the reservation, iy a fruit-
ful source of irritation. The Indians cannot understand why they have no rights
which white men are bound to respect in these matters, and when dispossessed of
long-enjoyed privileges they become angry and Ievelwoful As these cases are be-
coming more frequent each day and the danger of serious collisions more imminent it
Dbecomes the part of good government to remove the source of irritation swiftly and
effectually. This can be done only by confining the Indians upon their reservation
and improving it in the way above indicated. When Geronimo and a band of not
more than 50 renegade Apachos are able to terrorize balf of the territory of New
Mexico and Arl/on.n, and give employment to a large part of the Federal Army—a
misfortune this section is now suffering from-—it requires no streteh of the imagina-
tion to believe that the Navajos, if allowed to drift into war through lack of ])rompt
action in remedying these sapposed grievances, conld inflict untol(l injury upon the
prosperity of this section, and retard its growth many years.

I therefore respectfully recommend:

(1) That the sum of 50,000 be expended as soon as practicable in constructing dams,
reservoirs, irrigating ditches, and sinking wells upon the Navajo reservation, with
a view to store a sufficient supply of water for the necessities of the whole tribe.

(2) That when this has been done, or when sufficiently near completion to remove all
doubt, the non-reservation Navajos be required uvon reasonable notice—the time to
be determined by the agent of the Navajos and the district commander—to return
and remain upon tlie reservation.

(3) That the executive order of May 17, 1884, whereby the fractional portions of town-
ship No. 29 north, range 14, 15, and 16 wost, sonth of Vhe San Juan River, just above
the northeast corner of the 1\&V(]JU reservation, Rio Arriba County, New Mexico, were
taken from the reservation, be immediately revoked and thoe said land restored to
the reservation, thus making the San Juan River, the natural bonndary of the reser-
vation at this point, the real bonndary.

(4) That the Land Commissioner be directed to issue instructions that no entries for
any portion of this land be received after June 1, 18306.

(5) That @ suitable person or persons be appointed to assess damages for all claims
entered for this land up to June 1, 1886, by white settlers in good faith who have been
evicted from any portion of said land by the revocation of the exceutive order of May
17, 1834,

(6) That dnring the pendency of these pl()ceedmws, and until the settlement of the
question in dl‘i[)llf(, in the San Juan country, a subagent for the Navajos be appointed,
whose duty 1t shall be to reside npon or adjacent to the land in question, to care for
the interests of the Indians and to aid in preserving peaco.

It is proper that you should know, if you have not already becn advised of the fact,
that the district commander has stationed two companies of soldiers, one of mf(mtly
and one of cavalry, on this disputed territory. It General Bradley thinks the presence
of two military companies necessary, it would scem, in view of the great distance of
this point from the agency, that the Indian Office should consider the troubles on the
San Juan of sufficient moment to require the services of a subagent until the emer-
gency is past.

All of whicl is respectfully submitted. WILLIAM PARSONS,

. United States Special Indian Agent.
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ExHiBIT B,

HeApQUARTERS DistrICT 0¥ NEW MEXICO,
Santa I'é, N. Mex., April 26, 1886.

DEAR Sir: I am in receipt of your letter of this date, referring to lands withdrawn
from the Navajo Reservation by executive order in 1884, known as fractional town-
ships 14, 15, and 16, bordering the San Juan River.

You ask my opinion as to the best way of settling the difficulties between Navajos
and whites on the above-named lands, and I reply that in my judgment these frac-
tional townships ought to be restored to the Navajo Reservation, and the claims of
settlers extingnished, if it is possible so to arrange the matter.

From six years’ acquaintance with the Navajos and their country, I know that the
great want of their reservation is water. They have land enough, but they have not
water enough for their great flocks and herds, and for irrigating land for their crops
of wheat and corn. For this reason, access to the San Juan River through the town-
ships named is important to the Navajos, and these lands are of wmore value to them
than to any one else.

Looking to the time when the Navajos will all have to live on their reservation,
the water facilities and supply ought to be increased in every practicable way, and
it is little enough to say of the Navajos that their good condnet and good qualities
eBntitle them to the favorable consideration of the officers in charge of the Indian

ureau.

Very respectfully, your obedient servant,
L. P. BRADLEY,
Colonel Thirteenth Infantry, Commanding.
WirLiaM PArsoNs, Esq., .
s Special dgent, Indian Bureau, Sunta Ié, N. Mex.

ExuiBiT E.

Memoranda of the proceedings of some of the councils held by Special Agent Parsons with
the Navajos in the months of I'ebruary and March, 1886, and of a meeting with white settlers
in the San Juan Valley.

At a council of Navajo Indians held at Fort Defiance, Arizona, with Special Agent
William Parsons, February 25, 1386, Coska, a non-reservation Indian living near
Manuelito, spoke as follows:

“] remember all the treaty made at Fort Sumner. We changed our habits after
that treaty. We gave up evil ways and have striven to become better people. They
told us if we gave up our bad ways they would send us back to our own country ; so
all the young men promnised. They told ns the Americans would be our friends. The
people on the other side of the Staked Plaing in Texas were to be as our brothers. The
people this side were also to Le our friends. At Atua Chiquo were to be our friends.
Our friends at Nachessi who were coming liere have gone south again. I remember
that Sherman told us we could go to Albuquerque. At Laguma we were also to stay.
This side of Carino we could pass through there. At Fort Wingate we had relatives,
and the Navajos and whites are now all friends, and we have been trying to do what
is right ever since. And we were told we could plant crops, and they gave us tools.
We gave up all stealing and attended to our work. I have not heard of trouble off

of the reservation. We were advised to have farms. If we acted like white people,
we were to have farms, and we were to have sheep and property. That goestoprove
that the American advice was good. The Americans are like spirits ; whatever they say
they do, aud our people are richer for taking their advies. My father told me wlere
the line was. We have a great deal of stock, and need much grass. This is because
we followed the American advice. Therefore we need much land. We have had
trouble about our herds and stock with Americans off the reservation about the grass;
some of our people have been killed in quarrels about the grass, and sounie of our horses
have been stolen. We have, however, let these injnries pass. We are blamed for
things the white men do. The whites are always ready to point their guns at us.
The springs ave taken up by white men, and they kill our horses when they come to
get water. We do not injure them in return. Our cattle are thus deprived of grass
and water. This present reservation is hardly big enough on account of scarcity of
grass for our cattle and sheep. We have lots of horses and sheep which increase all
the time. We would rather have more cattle and sheep even if they are not so
good. We prefer the large herds of horses. We think it would be better to let our
stock increase as we have in the past. We think the American advice to have few
horses and sheep is not good.
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““In the center of the reservation the mountains are high and the snows deep, so
that we cannot live there unless we lose our stock.  Much of the reservation is talken
up by these mountains,  Therefore we think we should have more land down in the
valley where we can raise corn, melons, and other crops.  Onr fathers have thought
this best.  Alongside these mountains and in the north we have tried several times
to raise crops, but the early frosts have killed them.  But our stock inereases down in
the valleys away from these mountaing.  We are satisfied that our young men off the
reservation conduct themselves peaceably and well. T heav nothing among my peo-
ple about our youung rmen stealing horses from the whites, but whites steal from
other whites and then tell the Great Father that the Navajos did it.  None of our peo-
ple do wrong to the whites. We wish the Great Father would let us live off the res-
ervation, but we know that when we do we have trouble. Several years ago we
promised 10 live in peace and we try to do so.  Many old nen come to hear you talk
and will go back and tell the young men what you say, and are glad that we are at
peace instead ot at war. In war we had trouble, now we are comfortable. We all
have something to wear and eat, and have good lorses and saddles, and we think
the Awericans ouuht to thank us for taking their advice. All our people look npon
the President as our father; we dow’t w ant him to erowd us upon a small picce of
ground where there is not room for us.  We do not ever intend to break out in war
again. When we take trips off the reservation it is not to steal or just for fun, it is
for trade to sell our goods or for grass and water. I always lived off the reservation
near the Zunis, because they are mny friends and I can trade with them. Ihavealways
lived near them. I wish the Great Father would give us a little more land on the
south, east, and west.

“I would like the reservahon extended about 35 miles south so as to reach Fort
Wingate on the east and Navajo Springs on the west, soas to include Navajo Springs.
A frre.xt many Navajos live down there, are nsed to the country, and like it. Most
of the chiefs here present are from that section. The grass dowu there is better and
the sheep get fatter. We are going to keep on eating plenty of mntton and having
good food. 1 don’t know w lether the people living in the San Juan country would
consent, to shorten the reservation an equal lengtli on the north.”

Captain Tom, a scont, who lives on the 1‘1*sel'vm.ion in the north, near the San Juan
country, at the “Cottonwood Wash,” spoke as follows:

“T am glad to see you, and want to hear you talk about the land, and am glad yon
have come to find out about things. This little strip of land at San Juan, called the
Hog Back, lays on the south side “of San Juan; it is about 15 miles long and 3 miles
wide. We have had a little trouble here, and I have done what I could to keep from
trouble. We would like to get this strip included in the reservation. I don’s think
there is auny serious trouble up there. On the north side of the San Juan, in the
northeast corner of the reservation, there are Navajos living.  On the strip 15 miles
long and 3 wide at the Hog Back scveral white men have settled; less than temn.
Some of these have built houses on land ocenpied by three Navajos, and that mnakes
bad feeling, but the Navajos have not resorted to violence. The Indians have made
a diteh here to talke water from the San Juan to their farms, and they now want to
go on and fix the diteh. The Mormons started the ditch, but did not complete it;
then the Indians finished it. -

“Is glad I am going to San Juan, for I will know more about tlie trouble up there
then. They do not want to lose the northeast corner of the reservation south of the
San Juan River.”

Manuelito, one of the head chiefs of the Navajos, living on the southeast part of the
reservation, spolke as follows:

“Manuelito is the head chief of the east side of the reservation, and Ganada-Mucho
i8 head chiet of the western side. You have already heard some of the history of the
tribe. Wlen our fathers lived they heard that the Americans were coming across
the great river westward. Now we are settling among the powerful people. We
heard of the guns and powder and lead—first flint locks then percussion caps, and
now repeating rifles, We first saw the Americans at Cottonwood Wash. We had
wars with the Mexicans and Pueblos. We captured mules from the Mexicans, and
had many mules. The Americans came to trade with us. When the Americans first
came we had a big dance, and they danced with our women. We also traded. The
Americans went back to Santa Fé, which the Mexicans then held. Afterwards we
heard that the Mexicans had reached Santa Fé, and that the Mexicans had disarmed
thiem and made them prisoners. Thisis how the Mexican war began. Had the Mexi-
cans let the Aruericans alone they wonld not have been defeated by the Americans.
Then there were many soldiers at Santa I'é, and the Mexican governor was driven
away. They did not kill the governor. Therefore we like the Americans., The
Americans fight fair, and we 11ke them. Then the soldiers built the fort here, and
gave us an #went who advised ns to behave well. He told us to live peaceably with
the whites; to keep our promises. They wrote down promises, and so always remem-
ber them, Irom that on we had sheep and horses. We had lots of horses, and felt
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good; we had a fight with the Americans, and were whipped. At that time we
thought we had a big country, extending over a great deal of land. We fought for
that country because we did uot want to lose it, but we made a mistake. We lost
nearly everything, but we had some beads left, and witl them we thought we were
rich. I have always advised the youug men to avoid war. 1 am ashained for having -
gone to war. The American nation is too powertul for ns to fight. When we had a
tight for a few days we felt tresh, but in a short tine we were worn out, and the sol-
diers starved us out.  Then the Americans gave ns something to eat, and we came in
from the mountains and went to Texas. We were there for a few years; many of onr
people died from the climate. Then we became good friends with the white people,
The Comanches wanted us to fight, but we would not join them. One day the sol-
diers went after the Comanches. I and the soldiers charged on the Comanches, but
the Comanches drove us baek, and I was left alone to tight them; so the white men
came in twelve days to talk with us, as our people were dying off.  Deople from
Washington held a couucil with us. He explained how the whites punished those
who disobeyed the law. We promised to obey the laws if we were permitted to get
DLack to onr own conntry. We promised to keep the treaty you read to us to-day.
We promised fonr times to do so. We all said ‘yes’ to the treaty, and he gave us
good advice. He was General Sherman. We told im we wou]d try to remember
what he said. He said: ‘I want all you people to look at me.” He stood up for us
to see him. He said if we would do right we could look people in the face. Then
he said: ‘My children, I will send you back to your homes.” The nights and
days were long before it came time for us to go to our homes. The day be-
fore we were to start we went a little way towards home, because we were
80 anxious to start. We came back and the Americans gave us a little stock to
start with and we thanked them for that. We told ‘thie drivers to whip the mules,
we were in snch a hurry. When we saw the top of the mountain from Albuquerque
we wondered if it was our monntain, aund we felt like talking to the ground, we loved
it so, and some of the old men and women cried with joy when they reached their
homes, The agent told us here how large our reservation was to be. A small piece
of land was surveyed off to us, but we think we ouglht to have had more. Theu we
began to talk about more land, aud we went to Washington to sce abount our land,
Some backed out of going for fear of strange animals and from bad water, but I
thought I might as well die there as here. I thought I could do something at Wash-
ington about the land. I had a short talk with the Comnmissioner. We were to talk
with him next day, but the ageut brought us back withont giving us a chance to say
what we wanted. 1 saw a man whom I called my younger brother; he was short
and fat; and we came back on foot. So Ganada-Mucho thought he would go on to
Washmoton and fix things up, and he got sick and conldn’t stand it, and came back
without s seeing the Commissioner. I tell these things in order that you might know
what tronbles we have had, and how little satisfaction we got. Therefore we have
told you that the reservation was not la rge enough for our sheep and horses; what
the others have told you is true. It is true about the snow on the mountfuus in the
center of the reservation. It is nice there in the sunmer, but we havé to move away
in the winter. But we like to be at the mountains in the summer beeause there is
good water and grass there, bnt in the winter we always move onr camps. We like
the southern part of the country becanse the land is richer. We can have farmns
there. We want the reservation to be extended below the railroad on the south, and
also in an easterly direction.

““We all appreciate the goods issned to ns by the Government. At first we did not
understand, now we know how to use plows and scrapers, We have good use for
these things and wagons. We can then make new farms and raise crops. We are
thankful for what the Government sends. We give nothing back to the whites.
When we make blankets our women sell them, They look well in white men’s rooms
on the beds or walls. If I had a good house I would keep the blankets myself. When
apy man comes from the East we tell him ovr troubles. There are some bad men,
both whites and Indiuns, whom we cannot keep from doing mischief. The whites
control them by laws, 'md we talk ours into being good. I am glad the young men
have freed their mmds, now we old men have our say.”

Gauada-Mucho, the other head chief of the Navajos, remarked as follows:

“T have little to say. Mannelito has said all there is to say, and I agree with all
he has said. What he has said is true. I live off of the reservation, near Puneblo,
Colo., near the southwest corner of the reservation. I like to talk about land. I
think of it night and day. We should have more land on the south end of the re-
serve, If we had more land there we would be happy and thiuk our Great Father was
good to us. T am glad to know you have come to sec about our land. I went to
Washington and thought I could do something. I had a talk with thie Secretary,
Commlssmner and the President, but I did not have an opportunity to say much.
My hands are ready to receive the land we need, but it does not come. We Lave
talked for several years about the land, but uothmg is done, I went north to Utah
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cight years ago. I saw many liouses of Mormons., The trip to Washington§Ifreinem-
ber little, becaunse [ was sick. I had Captain Tom and Little Captain. They went
further than I, saw houses on the water, and there was no chance to get land there.
So I came back and concluded that I would take my chances at the little strip of
land down here, because there is no chance in the liast. The gray-headed fellow I
met in Washington I told that the whites were increasing very tast.PNow the white
mel’s houses are built all over the country, and I told him that they ought to think
of the poor old man at Navajo and give him a little more land betore it is all gone.
Our peuple are increasing, too, and we st have some, else we will have to roam
around. I have wanted to tell yon what I said in Washington. We ought to have
the land within the four mountains. We don’t expect to get all that land, but we
should have a little more land on the south. The men from the south have told you
how much land they want, but there is land on the west we should have. We should
lhave the Moqui reserve extended to Navajo Mountain and east to the line spoken of
Ly the men from the south. We want the Moqui reserve extended south for us to the
Rio Colorado. If we get that land we will make ne more bother with the Indian
Oftice, and will be happy and attend to our business. If we get that land we will not
go beyond the new reservation lines. I and my people do not want to decrease our
herds. We prefer more cattle and sheep and horses just as they are.

““When we got back from Texas we came afoot, and now we have plenty of cattle
and horses and sheep.

““The big horses look nice; our ponies are small, but they carry us far and swift.
They are very strong. and will carry a man if his legs drag on the ground. I am a
small man and like small horses. I cannot c¢limb on to big horses, but fall off when I
try to mount. I believe in obeying the Great Father. We promised not to go on the
war-path, and then after we had promised not to fight, the commander at Fort Win-
gate sends for scouts to go and fight other tribes of Indians.”

At a council of Navajo Indians held near Olio, on the San Juan River, New Mexico,
March 5, 1886, the tollowing proceedings were had :

Special Agent Parsons stated the object of holding the council; the complaints which
had been wmade by white settlers against the Indians; counseled forbearance and
obedience to the laws, and then called upon the Indians to state their grievances and
wishes. Wherenpon Casiano, a Navajo Indian, who resides in a frame house on the
south side of the San Juan, a short distance below the place where the council was
held, and on the disputed territory, spoke as follows:

“ My friend, I should be sorry to lose my land where I live. White men and Govern-
ment officials have advised the Navajos to build better houses and dig irrigating
ditches ; some of us have done so here, and now if we must lose our houses and farms 1t
will grieve us.  The riverfrom the Hog Back Mouuntain up here is the only place where
we cau get water, and we think that the Government should give us this land, We
would be very thanktnlif this land should be giveu back tous.  We shall be proud of
you, my brother, if you secvre this land for us. All the Navajos present desire that
this shall be done. Some of ns have come many miles to meet you. Ihave always
tried to obey the Great Father. 1 have planted a little farm with corn and melons,
but my diteh is tull of sand, because I was told I could not keep my farm. I may
have made mistakes. I have little sense. Others here are wiser than I, and can talk
straighter; but the complaints made by the whites against me are not true. We have
some cabins on this land, and, as yon see, some of the whites are bnilding their cabins
in front of or alongside of onr cabins. We would like a little chance so we can work
on our land. Most of the Navajos, you see, live near here. If we are crowded away
from the river we cannot get water for mmany miles, and our cattle, sheep, and horses
will sutter. Therefore we want this laud™ There is land belongiug to the reserva-
tion on the west side of the Hog Back, which the San Juan runs through, about 10
miles from here, but it is crowded with Navajos and their herds. We want to live at
peace with the whites and, therefore ask that the river this easr side of the Hog,
Back may be the boundary line of the reservation, so that the whites may be on the
north side and the Navajos on the sonth side. We do not want to mix with the
whites, but must have water. If the whites remain on this side we will constantly
have trouble with them when we drive our flocks and herds througlh their lands to
get water at the San Juan River. We trade at the store on this side, and also on the
other side. When the river is high we cross in boats. Scme of us have to come
many miles here to the river to trade. It is our only outlet for pelts and wool, for
Forts Wingate and Defiance are 125 miles south of the San Juan River. I and other
Navajos here are poor, and we want to make an honest living. We are willing to
work hard and do what is best for all. I de not speak with a forked tongue. My
brother and my friend, I am now ready to go to work on my farm, to plant crops and
fix up the ditches. I won’t be afraid now to go to work to fix up our flumes and
ditches and work hard. My mind is now easy and I will improve my house and farni.
I have few tools to work with, but I buy some from the whites, I getnone from the
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agent, because it is so far to go, and the other Indians who are nearer Fort Defiance
get them ; but we would like axes and hoes and spades. We never go to the issues;
itistoo far. The complaints against me and other Navajos here are all lies. I never
interfered with the white settlers here, and have stolen none of their cattle. I do
not know why they have made up these complaints against me.

“The whites want to crowd us out; hence they talk aboutme. It is because they
want this land. I have told you now all I have to ray. Now I want you to tell me
in how many days we may begin work on our farms.”

The special agent replied that he would meet the white settlers this evening,
would hear what they had to say, would think the matter over, and in the morning
would 1ell hoth the Indians and whites what they ought to do.

To this Casiano replied: ‘I thank you, my brother.”

San Duval, au aged chief, then spoke as follows:

“You have told us to wait, and we have waited. We have come a long way and
would like to know what to do before we go away. You can now see how thiscountry
lies. We look upon you as our brother and friend. Let the whites stay on the other
side of the river and the river be the boundary line. The San Juan is like onr father
and mother. It is kind to us; we have lived near it for many years. Let the whites
get water from the other and the Navajos from the south side. There are many
whites on the other side. We never trouble them. We want to have this side. We
feel as if it should be ours. Several years ago we used to occupy the land north of
the river, but now whites have made ranches there and have taken all that land.
They have crowded us south of the river, but should not crowd us further; we need
the land on this side. Look at me. I am very old; I have lived all my life on the
San Juan River, except when we were prisoners. The agent told us to return to our
homes. We came back here and we don’t like to be driven away again. We do not
want trouble. We meditate peace only and want to do what is right always. We
are old wmen here. Salla-wool, Barbara Swara, Go-las-be-yea, and myself used to Le
chiefs long ago. We have advised the Navajos to do right, and we now want you to
tell us what to do about the land.”

The special agent then told the Indians that he would first consult with the set-
tlers and in the morning would advise the Indians what to do.

Casiano then said that about three months ago, when he was away from his hogan,
white men came and tore it down and began to build a cabin. Then Casiano came
back home and burned the foundation down. He then asked permission to attend
the meetiag of the white settlers and to ask them to point out any Indians who have
done wrong. Permission was accordingly given them to come.

San Duval again spoke as follows:

‘¢ Stories are bigger away from home. We will meet the whites in council to-night.
The trouble is all about the little strip of land, but all is quiet and we have behaved
well. The whitesmake up such stories as they think will injure us; they have the ear
of the Great Father. We have no place to go to if we lose this land; no place to get
water, for that is scarce on the reservation. It would be best for all to have San
Juan River for the boundary. You have given us good advice and we thank you for
it, and will try to do as you tell us. We want to be friends with the whites and to
share with them the wood and water. I live near the Hog Back. My people live
all along the river, from here down below where I live.”

Barbara Swara then spoke :

“T have been East and seen all the land fenced up. I have lived in one spot since
we came back from Fort Sumner. We have always behaved ourselves and tried to
obey the agent. Manuelito and [ are friends. I speak these fiew words to tell you
that 1 think the whites the greatest people in the world. They can tell what kiud
of a man one is by a single glance of the eye. We do not like the way the whites have
jumped on our land hiere. 1 went tosee the agent twice aboutit. I asked these whites
to go oft omr land, and we have had more and more trouble all the time. T have
always advised well. I would have gone to the council at IFort Defiance, but I was
sick. It warmed my hieart when I heard you were coming here, and I came to see
you. For five years I have been sick, so I don’t go to the agency, but I look at the
whites very closely to see what kind of meun they are. American advice is good;
hence we bave sheep and horses, and after awhilewe will have more. For that reason,
land—this little strip here to water our stock und doa little farming. I have heard we
should reduce the number of our stock, but we think that is bad advice. Our stock
is our own, and we are proud to have so much; hence we watch it close. We want
to build better houses, like the Americans and the Mexicans, also like Manuelitos.
The advice you have given us about sending our children to school is all true.”

Little Captain, a Navajo scout, said he hoped I would settle this difficulty before
I left aud stop the whites from settling this land till the dispute was determined.
““These poor people here beg you to help them. Theland back of this is a desert, and
if the Indians are driven away they will have no crops. They do not know what to

H. Ex. 263——2
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do unless you tell them to go ahead and put in their crops and fix their ditches. I
try to do my best for the people. I said nothing at the Fort Defiance council. I
want you to make these people happy by giving them this land, and so they will speak
well of you when you go away. These people want to do right and the best they
can. We will build good houses here; we have already built some.”

At a public meeting of white settlers held at the Olio post-office school-house, north
of the San Juan River, March 5, 1846, the following proceedings were had:

W. P. Hendrickson, a settler, white, upon the south side of the San Juan River, said
he was anxious to preserve the peace, but that the scttlers had complied with
the laws in regard to settlement of lands under homestead, pre-emption, timber-cult-
ure, and desert acts. “ We do not desire to quarrel with the Indians or anybody else.
We have simply obeyed the land laws. We have no contest with the Indians. We
‘Thave made our tilings and some have proved up. We are ready to contest our cases
in the Land Office. I cannot tell how many settlers there are over the river. There
are perhaps 20 or 25 settlers, possibly 40, on the strip 15 miles long. Every available
quarter-section has been taken. I have been there but a few days. But few white
men have buile anythiug in the shape of houses. Practically they have bnilt ne
houses. They have put in some work in clearing land and inaking fences and getting
rTeady for crops. The whites have paid no regard to Indian houses built on quarter
sections of land. About a dozen white men have built houses and attempted to live
on the other side of the river. I know of 4 or 5 who now live on the other side, but
there may be more. 3Some parties have built houses and have not lived in them on
account of annoyancé from Indians.”

Judge Webster, a resident of the north side of the river, says:

“Some white settlers have had their lives threatenéd by Indians if they attempted
to live on the south side. As a general thing the threats were general, not specific—
against all white men. I might name one or two cases of specific threats, but do not
deem it advisable. I have heard good judges of land from Colorado say that a quar-
ter-section of the land on the south side was worth §1,000 before a blow was struck on
it. Six or seven years ago I paid $500 cash for a naked quarter-sectiou, and I think
the land on this is worth four or five tines as much now. The tract I paid $500 for
is on the north side. Ithink the unimproved land on the south side as valuable as on
the north side ; of course there is poor land on bosh sides.

¢¢] think there are about twenty good quarter-sections of land on the river bot-
tom on the south side in the 15-mile strip; but there is good mesa lands farther back,
though it would be difficult and expensive to get water upon these mesa lands—every
foot of land on the river bottomn on both sides of the river.

¢ Indians have built a good many houses on the other side on the bottomn, such
houses as they have-built in other parts of the reservation. They have repaired and
extended some ditches begun and wmade by white settlers six or seven years ago.
They have built one log house that I know of, but there may be one or two more.
They occupy two of the old settlers’ houses that they didn’t burn dowu. If the land
on the south side were occupied exclusively by whites I do not think there would
be any trouble with the Indians coming down to water with their herds and flocks,
The Indians have been encouraged by Agent Bowman and other agents to believe
that it they had made any improvements or settlements on this south-side bottou,
that they had acquired rights to the soil which could not be taken from them. This
has made the tronble. If the Indians were once given to understand that they had
no rights there and must leave, they would acquicsce.

“ Sinee this strip was taken off the reservation the line has been run and marked
by Govermuent surveyors, and the Indians know the line, and if they were given to
understand that they had no right on this side that line, there would, I think, be no
further trouble.”

Charles M. Tonkinsou, who has taken a elaim on the south side, of land occupied
by a substantial Indian log house, said as follows:

“Indians are different from whites. They must understand distinetly. I filed my
claim uearly a year ago. I bought out a man who had filed on it a year ago last
October. I paid Iim somewhere between $15 and $25 dollars for his interest. The
log house was on my claiin nine months ago when I first knew about the claim. To
my knowledge no lndian has occupied that house, but they might have slept there.
They also had household goods there. We could have had fifty men here, but did not
think it necessary to have more.”

. S. P. Hendrickson, who has filed on a quarter-section on the south side, spoke as
follows:

“It was generally understood that this land was open to sevtlement. The Indians
have not disturbed me. I have a house and my family there. I have been there
thiree or four months. The dispute arose from white men building a ditch and im-
proving the land. It was then clear from Indian claims. Then the white settlers
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were removed through the influence of the agent. Albert White and Fowler Kimble
built houses in 1879; also Mr. Tully and Pete Wimple and Mr. Gannon. These men
were driven away by the agent. Therefore they were not intruders. The trouble
arose through the agent trying to get the land away from the whites. I do not blame
the Indians, but the agent. The Indians told me 1 could occupy the land I am now
upon. I think but one house built by the whites now remains.”

Joseph Winton:

‘I filed on a quarter-section on the south side in 1884. Ihave worked all winter
with a team on my ditch. A cabin built by Gannon stood there ; also the head of an
old ditch started by Gannon. I shall remain there till the Government moves me off.
My diteh has cost me rising $200. Another man is in with me on the diteh. Think the
ditch will cost us about $300 apiece.”

C
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